
§ 1519: DOJ Fires Its Anti-Obstruction Cannon 

Law360, New York (October 15, 2010) -- On Sept. 1, 2010, the federal government raised to a 
new level its increasingly active anti-obstruction stance. On that day, Chicago U.S. Attorney 
Patrick J. Fitzgerald stood before a packed press gallery and announced landmark charges 
against 11 high-ranking corporate executives and six foreign and domestic corporations in 
United States v. Alexander Wolff, et al.[1] 

The charged multicontinent scheme publicly unraveled what U.S. Department of Justice officials 
describe as the largest food fraud, and largest anti-dumping, criminal prosecution in U.S. 
history.[2] More specifically, the indictment implicates top-ranking executives in a global effort 
to obstruct justice and criminally evade nearly $80 million in duties and tariffs by illegally 
importing mislabeled — and at times contaminated — Chinese honey.[3] 

The Wolff charges may well mark the dawning of a new era for many reasons, not least of which 
is the government’s creative use of the U.S. Code’s most sweeping, and thus far largely ignored, 
obstruction statute, namely, 18 U.S.C. § 1519. The message sent in the high-profile, fact-laden, 
70-page, 44-count indictment is apparent: The government is ready and willing to unleash its full 
arsenal against alleged corporate bad actors believed to have knowingly obstructed justice. 

Wolff, therefore, puts corporations and their executives on notice that the Sarbanes-Oxley 
criminal-enforcement shoe has dropped; corporate violators attempting to obstruct governmental 
functions can expect to be prosecuted to the full extent of the law, which, post-Enron, means 
including under Section 1519. 

Section 1519’s Relatively Short History ... But Potentially Long Reach 

From its 2002 passage, white collar practitioners have hotly debated Section 1519’s potential as 
a prosecutorial tool. While some viewed 1519, and its 20-year maximum sentence, as a powerful 
new arrow in the Department of Justice’s already densely-packed quiver, others dismissed the 
section as little more than Macbethian sound and fury signifying nothing.[4] 

The Wolff obstruction charges serve to, for now at least, settle this dispute. Wolff not only 
signals the government’s readiness to tactically deploy Section 1519, but it, indeed, goes further, 
revealing its willingness to, under the right fact pattern, push the prosecutorial envelope.[5] 

Prior to digging into the Wolff case’s specifics, however, let us first take a closer look at the 
language of a statute that has generated so much speculation, yet has thus far resulted in so few 
actual prosecutions. 

Congress created 18 U.S.C. §1519, titled “Destruction, Alteration, or Falsification of Records in 
Federal Investigations and Bankruptcy,” under § 802 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The 
statute reads as follows: 

"Whoever knowingly alters, destroys, mutilates, conceals, covers up, falsifies, or makes a false 
entry in any record, document, or tangible object with the intent to impede, obstruct, or influence 



the investigation or proper administration of any matter within the jurisdiction of any department 
or agency of the United States or any case filed under title 11, or in relation to or contemplation 
of any such matter or case, shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 20 years, or 
both."[6] 

Comparing Section 1519 with some of its sister-enactments helps pinpoint the source of the 
provision’s force. 

Section 1503, for example, contains the general obstruction of justice omnibus clause, 
criminalizing conduct “corruptly influencing, obstructing, or impeding the due course of justice 
in the context of a judicial or grand jury proceeding.”[7] With slightly broader wording, Section 
1505 makes it illegal to corruptly influence, obstruct, or impede a pending federal 
investigation.[8] 

By their express language, therefore, both Sections 1503 and 1505 require the existence of a 
pending federal investigation or judicial proceeding. In marked contrast, under Section 1519, 
prosecutors need not prove that a defendant undertook the obstructive act with the corrupt intent 
to affect a particular government proceeding.[9] 

Despite this advantageous wording, Section 1519 prosecutions thus far have been surprisingly 
rare. The relative novelty of the statute, prosecutors’ wariness towards relying on an untested 
(and perhaps underappreciated) U.S. Code section, and an absence of Main Justice pressure to 
indict under the statute all go far toward explaining the unanticipated dearth of 1519 charges.[10] 

But times clearly have changed. The Department of Justice, through both proclamations and 
deeds, has dramatically ramped up its efforts to pursue corporate wrongdoers using all available 
means, including, most recently, Section 1519 prosecutions. Federal prosecutors have finally 
decided to wield (or, perhaps more appropriately, have been encouraged to wield) this potent 
legislative weapon in the manner its creators intended. And, in this regard, Wolff without 
question leads the mounting charge. 

The Wolff Scheme 

The company at the heart of the Wolff case is hardly an unknown recent arrival. The German-
based Alfred L. Wolff company ("Wolff GmbH"), founded in 1901, served as a large-scale 
global supplier of natural raw materials and functional brand ingredients to the food industry, 
with subsidiaries and production units strategically located throughout the world, including 
Germany, China, Hong Kong, Hungary, Mexico and Argentina.[11] 

Wolff GmbH, in short, was a significant German food conglomerate, not to mention the leading 
European and U.S. honey importer. Ten of the 11 individual defendants charged in Wolff were 
top-ranking executives of either corporate defendant Alfred L. Wolff GmbH,[12] or one of its 
four affiliated defendant companies. 

Prosecutors contend that the Wolff defendants employed sophisticated, carefully coordinated 
efforts to avoid steep U.S. import duties on honey entering America from non-market economy 



China, the world’s leading honey producer. The potential motivation for doing so was 
significant: Between 2001 and 2007, the government imposed default anti-dumping duties on 
Chinese honey as high as 221 percent.[13] Honey originating from counties such as Russia, 
India, Taiwan and Thailand, on the other hand, was not subject to similar anti-dumping duties. 

According to the government, the illegal “transshipping” of honey in Wolff occurred when 
defendants imported Chinese-origin honey into the U.S. through such third countries, 
mislabeling it and claiming it to have not originated from China. Compounding the alleged 
offense (at least from a public relations perspective), thousands of tons of the honey, which the 
government claims defendants imported through shell and front companies, were purportedly 
adulterated with antibiotics, cut with sugar, and then falsely labeled as “certified organic.” 

The Wolff Charges 

Turning to the 44 filed counts’ particulars, the government’s broad anchor allegation, set forth in 
Count One, is that the Wolff defendants engaged in a sophisticated global conspiracy to avoid 
the heavy import tariffs on Chinese honey. The government also employs Count One to set forth 
the bulk of its factual allegations, providing a detailed preview of the evidence it intends to 
confront defendants with at trial (though, since most defendants remain overseas, likely safe 
from extradition, the government may have a long wait before it can bring all of its evidence to 
bear on the top-executive defendants). 

In terms of the particular criminal objects of the conspiracy, Count One charges that, between 
2002 and 2009, defendants conspired to (1) illegally smuggle goods into the U.S., and (2) violate 
various U.S. Food and Drug Administration Acts relating to the importation of adulterated food 
products. Given the nature of the claimed scheme, these underlying offenses are unsurprising. 
What distinctly stands out, however, is the government’s decision to additionally charge that 
defendants (3) conspired to obstruct justice, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1519. 

Counts 41 through 44 compound defendants’ obstruction-related troubles by alleging various 
discrete substantive violations of Section 1519, including the falsification of records submitted to 
the Department of Commerce, creation of false sales contracts, and destruction of e-mails and 
debit notes. The Wolff obstruction charges are therefore plainly more pivot than carousel, with 
the government prosecutors unambiguously signaling that they view obstruction of justice as a 
prominent component in their overall prosecutorial strategy. 

Factual Allegations Supporting Wolff Obstruction Charges 

The Wolff indictment is nothing, if not fact-intensive. The indictment lays out, in email-by-email 
detail, that defendants, among other things, routinely (1) reminded each other to not write e-
mails concerning certain conspiracy-related subjects; (2) employed coded language in their e-
mails; (3) falsified U.S. Customs entry forms; (4) hired corrupt scientists to falsify pollen 
analysis lab reports; (5) deliberately spoke in German to avoid potential U.S. law enforcement 
detection; (6) specifically sought out certain customers who defendants believe failed to test the 
honey they purchased for the presence of antibiotics; (7) deleted e-mails and instant message 
chats concerning the conspiracy (and reminded each other to consistently do so); and (8) used 



difficult to trace instant messaging, Skype and personal e-mail accounts, rather than business e-
mail accounts, to discuss the day-to-day workings of the conspiracy. 

According to the indictment, for example, one Chinese-based co-conspirator allegedly e-mailed 
to co-defendants what he termed a “fake sales confirmation.” In another instance, a German 
defendant reminded his cohorts to exercise prudence, and to “clean up” their documentation and 
e-mail files on the “chance that DOC [Department of Commerce] will come to your office.” 
Evidence like this makes for a confident prosecution team. 

Flush With Obstruction? Comparing Wolff to Carson 

As Wolff demonstrates, today’s technologically savvy obstructionists frequently carry out their 
criminal conduct with a few key strokes. But once in a while, the more “cinematic” variety of 
obstruction comes along. 

Consider the 2009 case of Hong “Rose” Carson, charged with the more pedestrian, low-tech 
crime of flushing potentially incriminating documents down a toilet. In Carson, a key pre-Wolff 
Section 1519 obstruction case,[14] the accused allegedly introduced certain incriminating 
documents into California’s sewer system upon discovering that her employer, California-based 
Control Components Inc., had retained lawyers to conduct an internal investigation. The 
company undertook the internal investigation to determine whether the company had made any 
illegal overseas bribe payments. 

Unfortunately for Carson, the government soon learned of her conduct, and, in an aggressive 
charging decision, alleged that she violated Section 1519 having obstructed “an investigation 
within the jurisdiction of a federal agency when she destroyed documents relevant to CCI’s 
internal investigation [by flushing them down the toilet].” It, of course, remains to be seen how 
the government will prove Carson’s specific intent to obstruct; for this we will have to wait until 
the November 2010 trial. 

In terms of other lessons to be learned from Carson, federal prosecutors have arguably 
“deputized” company counsel conducting internal investigations. After all, lying to counsel, or 
destroying evidence to keep it from them, could threaten to expose the offending employee to up 
to 20 years incarceration. And the employee, if given appropriate Upjohn warnings,[15] is of 
course stripped of the ability to claim reliance on any attorney-client privilege.[16] 

For our purposes, however, it is only critical to note that, while the defendant in Carson 
attempted to thwart an ongoing internal investigation in her effort to slip the proverbial noose, 
the aim of Wolff defendants’ obstructive conduct was twofold: to deceive a government agency 
in its administrative review function and to avoid any type of detection, whether internal, 
external, or otherwise. In that sense, Wolff’s obstruction charges are, legally speaking, the most 
aggressive to date, aimed at allegedly obstructive — and prospective — conduct, taking place 
well in advance of any law enforcement investigation appearing on the horizon. 

“Anticipatory Obstruction of Justice” — The New Department of Justice Charge 
Du Jour? 



White collar practitioners have long debated whether Section 1519’s broad language might 
permit the government to lodge charges not linked to any particular ongoing federal 
investigation.[17] Though, historically speaking, perhaps a bit late on the draw, the Wolff 
prosecutors have dropped a bomb in the foxhole and underscored that, as it relates to certain 
conduct, such aggressive charging decisions are far removed from the realm of fiction. 

The Wolff prosecution team, indeed, omitted any hint of an allegation that, with respect to the 
defendants’ “cover up” conduct (i.e., deletion of emails and spoliation of evidence), the accused 
were aware of, or engaged in, the conduct to impede any particular pending federal (or, for that 
matter, internal) law enforcement investigation. Instead, the Count One accusation is that 
defendants’ “intended to impede, obstruct, and influence” either the “investigation by, and the 
proper administration of,” a regulatory “matter” before the Department of Commerce[18] — and 
“in relation to” and “contemplation” thereof, obstructed justice by destroying evidence that 
might someday reveal their alleged criminal course of conduct. 

Put another way, the Wolff indictment’s dense factual allegations portray defendants as 
meticulously — and in many instances, prospectively — engaged in a variety of efforts to cover 
their tracks and to insulate themselves from any adverse legal, or reputational, liability, whether 
emanating from their bosses, in-house counsel, their competitors, the U.S. or foreign 
governments, or other sources. 

That said, the government at trial will surely use defendants’ e-mails and other communications 
to brush aside possible defense claims that defendants’ conduct was not aimed at the U.S. 
government (and thus not violative of Section 1519), but rather was meant to keep their 
employers, co-workers, or others in the dark (an uphill argument for the defense to make given 
that the e-mails, themselves, involved top company management). 

The decision to lodge innovative obstruction charges in a high-stakes case such as Wolff 
necessarily carries some litigation risk. The language and legislative history of Section 1519, as 
well as the facts alleged in Wolff, however, lend support to the Chicago prosecutors’ 
“anticipatory” obstruction stance. After all, the charging allure of Section 1519, setting aside its 
20-year statutory maximum (which, in big-dollar fraud loss cases, is, of course, important), lies 
in what prosecutors are not required to prove. 

Although the Wolff prosecutors must, of course, still establish (1) that defendants knowingly 
directed the obstructive act to impact an issue or matter within the jurisdiction of any U.S. 
department or agency, and (2) that defendants acted at least “in relation to” or “in 
contemplation’” of such issue or matter, they need not establish (3) which specific “pending 
proceeding” defendants attempted to obstruct.[19] Section 1519’s calculated act of unburdening 
prosecutors from the nettlesome “pending proceeding” element is far from insignificant. 

In Wolff, the government has set the stage for what it undoubtedly hopes will be a convincing 
and public test of 1519’s prosecutive power. The creative and aggressive charging decision, 
moreover, underscores that the government means business when it comes to white collar 
obstruction, and is willing to push the envelope in those cases it deems important. 



Of at least equal significance is the reality that high-profile, cutting-edge prosecutions such as 
Wolff, if successful, naturally invite imitators. White collar practitioners are therefore well 
advised to keep a close eye on Chicago’s Dirksen Federal Building for a glimpse of what could 
well be a pivotal future battlefield in the government’s stepped-up war against white collar 
offenders. 
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successfully "impede, obstruct, or influence the investigation or proper administration" of the 
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